IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC08-1569 L.T. No.: 1D08-4077

DEPARTMENT OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA; and VOTE YES ON 5 FOR PROPERTY TAX RELIEF, INC.,

Petitioners,

VS.

BEVERLY SLOUGH, ET AL.,

Respondents.

JOINT INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS DEPARTMENT OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and VOTE YES ON 5 FOR PROPERTY TAX RELIEF, INC.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

BILL MCCOLLUM, ESQ.

Attorney General

SCOTT D. MAKAR, ESQ.

Solicitor General

Florida Bar No.: 709697

LOUIS F. HUBENER, ESQ.

Chief Deputy Solicitor General

Florida Bar No.: 0140084

PL 01 – The Capitol

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050

Telephone: (850) 414-3681 Facsimile: (850) 410-2672

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner VOTE YES ON 5 FOR PROPERTY TAX RELIEF, INC., (the "Committee"), a Defendant/Intervenor below, is a not-for-profit corporation organized under Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, and registered with the Florida Department of State, Division of Elections, as a political committee pursuant to Section 106.03, Florida Statutes. The Committee was created to provide statewide advocacy for the passage of Amendment 5, a proposed Constitutional Amendment filed with the Taxation and Budget Reform Commission by former Florida Senate President John McKay.

The instant appeal comes to this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(5), Florida Constitution and Rule 9.125, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, rendered a Final Judgment for Plaintiffs on August 14, 2008, ordering that Amendment 5 be removed from the November 4, 2008 general election ballot. A copy of the Final Judgment for Plaintiffs is located in the Appendix at Tab "A."

At the trial court, Respondents challenged the placement of Amendment 5 on the ballot, arguing that the title and summary failed to fairly inform the voter, in clear and unambiguous language, of the chief purpose of the amendment and that it is misleading. The trial court conducted a hearing on August 13, 2008, and on August 14, 2008, rendered the Final Judgment for Plaintiffs. *See* App. A. The trial

court held that the ballot title and/or summary of Amendment 5 is misleading for two reasons: (a) the ballot title and summary provide no indication that the "hold harmless" provision of the proposed amendment is for a single year (2010-2011), see App. A at pp. 7-9; and (b) the ballot title and summary do not fairly inform a voter that the proposed Constitutional Amendment would reduce the annual maximum increase in real property assessments by local government for other than school taxes from 10% to 5%, see App. A at pp. 9-12. The trial court also rejected the remaining arguments made by Respondents below. See App. A at pp. 6-7.

Petitioner DEPARTMENT OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA appealed the trial court's Final Judgment for Plaintiffs on August 15, 2008. On August 18, 2008, the Committee filed a Notice of Joinder. On August 19, 2008, the First District Court of Appeal entered an Order certifying the trial court's Final Judgment for Plaintiffs to this Court pursuant to Rule 9.125(a), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, stating that "the issues pending in this case are of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by the Supreme Court of Florida."

On August 19, 2008 this Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction of this case and setting a briefing and oral argument schedule.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Amendment 5 is a proposal placed on the ballot for the General Election to be held on November 4, 2008, by the Taxation and Budget Reform Commission.

The complete text of Amendment 5 is attached in the Appendix at Tab "B."

The proposal was the subject of engaged debate and numerous public hearings before the Commission and at its committee meetings. Upon its approval by 21 of the 25 Commission members, the ballot title and summary that is the subject of this appeal was drafted by the Style and Drafting Committee of the Commission (the "Drafting Committee"). The Drafting Committee consists of a former President of the American Bar Association and Member of the 1998 Constitution Revision Commission, Martha Barnett, a former President of the Florida Senate and a Member of the 1998 Constitution Revision Commission, James Scott, a former Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, Allan Bense, and a former Democrat leader of both the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, Les Miller. Numerous public hearings were held by the Drafting Committee in its endeavor to ensure that the title and ballot language complied with constitutional and statutory standards.¹

The proposal was initially referred to two committees. It was considered during the course of 3 meetings of the Governmental Procedures and Structure Committee and then was considered during 2 meetings of the Finance and Taxation Committee. After being passed by both committees, the proposal was taken up by the full Commission and adopted on first hearing. The proposal was

Unlike a constitutional amendment proposed by citizen initiative, submitted pursuant to Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, Amendment 5 was the focus of extensive public debate by the Commission Members at two meetings of the full Commission and numerous meetings of its committees, and by its opponents and supporters at all such public forums. Attached in the Appendix at Tab "C" is the Affidavit of John M. McKay filed at the trial court testifying as to the proceedings of Amendment 5 before the Commission. The filtering process that resulted in the ultimate approval of Amendment 5 was transparent and robust. As previously mentioned, not only the language of Amendment 5, but the ballot title and summary were subject to in depth scrutiny and consideration by a number of committees and the full Commission prior to final adoption and transmittal to the Secretary of State for placement on the ballot. ²

Amendment 5 was proposed by the Commission against the backdrop of Florida's experience with requiring local property taxes as a condition for

__

referred to the Drafting Committee, which carefully reviewed the language of the amendment itself, and then the title and summary on no less than 4 occasions before referring it back to the full Commission for its second and final hearing and passage.

² Furthermore, the language of the proposal and of the ballot title and summary were reviewed by legislative bill drafting before approval by the Drafting Committee.

receiving state educational funding and the constitutional limitations on annual increases in the assessed value of real property.

The Constitutional and Statutory Framework for the Legislature's
Requirement of a Levy of School District Property Taxes as a Condition
for Participation in the Florida Education Finance Program

The State is expressly prohibited from levying an ad valorem tax upon real estate or tangible personal property. Art. VII, § 1(a), Fla. Const. Notwithstanding such constitutional prohibition, the Legislature has done indirectly that which it cannot do directly by requiring school districts to levy ad valorem taxes as a condition of the receipt of state funds.

Florida's Constitution has required since at least 1968 that: "adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform system of free public schools...."

Art. IX, § 1, Fla. Const (1968). Beginning in 1973, the Legislature responded to this state education clause mandate with the creation of the Florida Education Finance Program (the "FEFP"). Under the umbrella of the FEFP, the Legislature has annually required school districts to levy local ad valorem taxes for school purposes to partially satisfy its requirement to adequately fund public schools. Since 1998, the state education clause mandates that it is "a paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all children residing within its borders." Thus, the Legislature satisfies its paramount duty to make adequate provision for the funding of public schools by a mixture of state revenues and a

legislatively required levy of ad valorem taxes by school districts. Such funding scheme has been legislatively institutionalized notwithstanding the express constitutional prohibition against the levy by the state of ad valorem taxes.³

The FEFP is currently made up of both state and local funds. The constitutional prohibition against state ad valorem taxation is circumvented by making participation in the FEFP "optional" by each school district. To participate in the FEFP and thereby receive state funds, each school district must levy a required local effort at a prescribed millage set by the Legislature. As part of the FEFP, the state makes an allocation of state funds to each participating school district in an amount determined by a statutory formula. § 1011.62(11), Fla. Stat. (2007). To be eligible to receive this state funding, each participating school district must contribute a minimum local funding effort from ad valorem taxes. §§ 1011.60(6); 1011.71(1), Fla. Stat. (2007). "The Legislature shall prescribe annually in the [general] appropriations act the maximum amount of millage a district may levy." § 1011.71(1), Fla. Stat. (formerly part of Ch. 263, Fla. Stat.).

³The FEFP is also driven by the uniformity provision in the state education clause embodied in Article IX, section 1, Florida Constitution, which requires a varying millage by school districts to ensure that the state funds are appropriated in a manner so that the equivalent per student amount required by each school district is subsequently uniform. The stated intent of the FEFP is "[t]o guarantee to each student in the Florida public school system the availability of programs and services appropriate to his educational needs, which are substantially equal to those available to any similar student, notwithstanding geographic differences and varying local economic factors." Ch. 73-345, § 2 at 1236, Laws of Fla.

Located in the Appendix at Tab "D" is line item 86 from Chapter 2007-72, Laws of Florida, the 2007 General Appropriations Act, which sets the required local effort for fiscal year 2007-2008 at \$7,909,357,201. Line item 86 also sets the "base student allocation" from both state funds and local ad valorem taxes at \$4,163.47.

Thus, although the FEFP provides for the Legislature to set a maximum amount of millage a school district may levy, participation in the FEFP is treated by the Legislature as a local option. Under the formula for levying ad valorem taxes annually determined by the Legislature, participating school districts receive a benefit of state funds, and in turn, are subject to the burdens in the FEFP formula, including a mandate for the levy of ad valorem taxes at legislatively imposed millage rates.

Located in the Appendix at Tab "E" is a chart from the research presented to the Commission setting forth the required local effort by school district in terms of "Required Local Effort Mills" and "Required Local Effort Taxes." *See* App. E, Columns 1 and 2. The total amount raised of \$7,909,648,521 generally conforms to the amount set in the General Appropriations Act for state fiscal year 2007-2008

⁴Funds included within the FEFP are allocated to each school district on the basis of various factors, including the number of students, the programs in which students are enrolled, cost differences between school districts, and the base student allocation, which is the amount to be appropriated for one full-time equivalent student.

as the required local effort. *See* App. D and E. As discussed previously, the maximum ad valorem millage each school district is required to levy to generate in the aggregate the amount mandated in the General Appropriations Act for state fiscal year 2007-2008 varies in compliance with the uniformity provision of the state education clause. Compare for example the required local effort for the Collier County School District of 2.786 mills to the required local effort of 5.007 mills mandated for the Sumter County School District.⁵

The fact that the amount of local ad valorem taxes required by the Legislature each year in the general appropriations act has substantially increased in the last ten years was a significant issue in the debate at the Commission meetings. Located in the Appendix at Tab "F" is a chart on public school funding from state fiscal year 1998-99 through 2007-08 documenting the required local effort mandated by the Legislature each year. The chart from the records of the Commission documents an increase from \$3,867,264,014 in state fiscal year 1998-99 to \$7,909,648,521 in state fiscal year 2007-08.6 This dramatic increase in

⁵The required millage rate for each school district is calculated by first determining a statewide millage rate that would generate the total required local effort when applied to 95% of the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, as provided in section 1011.62(4), Florida Statutes. This millage rate is then adjusted to ensure that no district's required local effort millage produces more than 90% of the district's total FEFP allocation.

⁶In the 2008 general appropriations act, the required local effort was set at \$8,267,476,367, as provided in Chapter 2008-152, line item 81, Laws of Florida,

property taxes mandated by the state was a major issue before the Commission. *See* App. G (tax notice). The taxpayer in this example would receive a property tax reduction of \$1,596.64 represented by the line designated as "School - Local Requirement." As discussed subsequently, Amendment 5 was adopted in response to provide meaningful tax reform.

The Current Constitutional Limits on Annual Increases in the Just Value Assessment of Real Property

Generally, Article VII, section 4, Florida Constitution, requires that general law regulations shall be prescribed to secure a just valuation of all real property for ad valorem taxation purposes. However, recent amendments proposed both by initiative and the Legislature have prescribed limitations on annual increases in the annual valuation of homestead property to the lower of three percent (3%) of the assessment for the prior year or the percent change in the Consumer Price Index. *See* Art. VII, § 4(c)(1), Fla. Const.⁷ Additionally, Article VII, sections 4(f)(1) and

for fiscal year 2008-2009. This exceeded the state revenue appropriation of \$5,213,413,678.

⁷This annual limitation on assessment increases for homestead property is commonly referred to as the "Save Our Homes Provision." It was initially approved pursuant to voter initiative at the general election held in 1992. Subsequently, the Legislature in Amendment 1 submitted a proposed amendment creating Article VII, section 4(c)(8), Florida Constitution, to allow the homestead assessment limitation to be "portable" to new homestead property under certain circumstances. This constitutional amendment was approved at the election held January 29, 2008.

4(g)(1), Florida Constitution, were amended to place a limitation on annual increases in the change in assessment of non-homestead property for all levies other than school district levies to ten percent of the assessment for the prior year.⁸

⁸Such assessment increase limitation for non-homestead property was also included in Amendment 1 proposed by the Legislature and approved by the electors at the election held January 29, 2008.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The ballot title and summary for Amendment 5 informs the voter of the chief purpose of the proposed amendment and is not misleading.

Amendment 5 eliminates the state required school district ad valorem taxes and replaces the loss of such funding source with equivalent state revenues so that education is held harmless through the exercise of articulated legislative options.

The constitutional amendment embodied in Amendment 5 is both a prohibition on the power of the Legislature to require school districts to levy an ad valorem tax as a requirement for participation in the Florida Education Finance Program and an instruction to the Legislature to hold education harmless by the generation of an equivalent amount of state revenues. The instruction to the Legislature to generate the equivalent state revenues is directed to specific legislative options.

The prohibition on the reliance by the Legislature on school district property taxes as a revenue source for funding of the FEFP and the instruction to generate an equivalent hold harmless amount of state revenues takes effect in state fiscal year 2010-2011. In subsequent state fiscal years, the FEFP will be funded solely from state revenues and local school property taxes will be a constitutionally prohibited funding source available for legislative appropriation.

The express prohibition on the legislative requirement of school district property taxes and the instruction to the Legislature to generate an equivalent amount of state revenues, have equal constitutional status. The political power to both direct and limit the Legislature is reserved to the people under the Florida constitutional scheme. In reviewing the validity of the ballot title and summary, the Court has to assume that the Legislature will respond to the instruction of the people in their exercise of their reserved political power.

The replacement of school district property taxes with state revenues can occur only in the year the Legislature is prohibited from requiring a school district levy. Thereafter, the FEFP is funded entirely with state revenues and the level of education funding from state revenues is an annual appropriation decision by the Legislature based upon current conditions and public school needs.

Amendment 5 does not propose to create a guaranty of any future educational funding level or limit the power of the Legislature to appropriate state funds beyond the year school property taxes are eliminated and replaced with an equivalent hold harmless amount of state revenues. Nothing in Amendment 5 or the ballot title and summary or language of the Amendment implies or states otherwise.

The constitutional amendments proposed by the Taxation and Budget Reform Commission, like those proposed by the Legislature, are not limited by any single subject requirement. Reliance by the trial court on cases construing the validity of legislative bill titles is misplaced. The Court has always held that the ballot title and summary must be read together to determine if the ballot information properly informs the voter. The ballot title is limited to 15 words, consisting of a caption by which the proposed amendment is commonly referred to or spoken of. Nothing in case law or statutory provisions requires that the title encompass all provisions contained in the ballet summary or a proposed amendment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has previously held that review of a trial court's decision on the placement of a proposed constitutional amendment is a pure question of law, and is thus *de novo*. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 and n.10 (Fla. 2000).

Section 101.161, Florida Statutes, sets forth the statutory ballot requirements for constitutional amendments:

[w]henever a constitutional amendment or other public measure is submitted to the vote of the people, the substance of such amendment or other public measure shall be printed in clear and unambiguous language on the ballot[.] . . . Except for amendments and ballot language proposed by joint resolution, the substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of.

§ 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (2007). This Court has long held that "[i]n order for a court to interfere with the right of the people to vote on a proposed constitutional amendment the record must show that the proposal is clearly and conclusively defective" under section 101.161. *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 154 (Fla. 1982). The *Askew* court further explained that section 101.161 requires:

that the voter should not be misled and that he have an opportunity to know and be on notice as to the proposition on which he is to cast his vote . . . All that the Constitution requires or that the law compels or ought to compel is that the voter have notice of that which he must

decide What the law requires is that the ballot be fair and advise the voter sufficiently to enable him intelligently to cast his ballot Simply put, the ballot must give the voter fair notice of the decision he must make.

Id. at 155 (*quoting Hill v. Milander*, 72 So. 2d 796, 798 (Fla. 1954)). In short, the "clear and unambiguous" requirement of section 101.161 mandates two things that are necessary for a voter to intelligently cast a ballot: that the voter (1) has notice as to what he is voting for, and (2) not be misled by the content of the ballot summary. Furthermore, the ballot title and summary are not required "to explain every ramification of a proposed amendment, only the chief purpose." *Carroll v. Firestone*, 497 So. 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla. 1986).⁹

Courts must act with "extreme care, caution, and restraint" before removing a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people. *Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re: Fla. Marriage Protection Amendment*, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1233 (Fla. 2006) (*quoting Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d at 156)). Thus, if "any reasonable theory" exists for approving an amendment for ballot placement, it should be upheld. *See Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 14 (Fla. 2000) (*quoting Gray v. Golden*, 89 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 1956)). In *Smith v. American Airlines*, 606 So. 2d 618, 621 (Fla.

⁹ Constitutional amendments proposed by the Commission are not subject to the single-subject limitation set forth in Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution, as required for amendments proposed by citizen initiative.

1992), this Court noted its reluctance to remove a Commission-proposed amendment from a vote of the public.

Whether a proposed constitutional amendment is wise policy on the merits is beyond the scope of judicial review, and Florida courts lack authority to inject their opinions on the merits into the process so long as the statutory requirements are satisfied. *See Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re: Additional Homestead Tax Exemption*, 880 So. 2d 646, 648 (Fla. 2004).

ARGUMENT

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