IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-1569 L.T. No. 1D08-4077

DEPARTMENT OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA; AND VOTE YES ON 5 FOR PROPERTY TAX RELIEF, INC.,

Appellants,

VS.

BEVERLY SLOUGH, et al.,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

BARRY RICHARD

Florida Bar No. 105599

GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A.

101 East College Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Telephone (850) 222-6891 Facsimile (850) 681-0207

Counsel for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The notice requirements for the ballot title and summary are rooted in the constitution and apply to all proposed amendments regardless of the sponsor. The Court has recognized that, while courts must exercise caution in removing an amendment from the ballot, they must be equally cautious about approving ballot titles and summaries that do not meet constitutional standards of fair notice and accuracy.

Failure to Disclose One-Year Limitation on Hold Harmless Requirement

Amendment 5 would permanently eliminate the required local school tax that has increased every year since 1999 and now produces almost \$8 billion a year. In return, the title and summary represent that the amendment will "hold harmless" this lost revenue by providing for "equivalent" state revenues to fund education. The title and summary fail to disclose that the hold harmless amount is required by the amendment for only one year. The one-year limitation is a material element of the proposed amendment and the voter must be given fair notice of it in the ballot title and summary.

The title and summary are also misleading because they represent that there is a balanced trade-off between the elimination of one source of school revenue and the establishment of new sources that will produce equivalent revenues. In fact, while the cutoff of the required local tax is automatic and permanent, the provision for a hold harmless amount is temporary and contingent upon legislative action. This Court has held that suggesting the existence of a trade-off that does not exist is sufficiently misleading to require removal from the ballot.

Failure of the Title and Summary to Clearly and Unambiguously Inform the Voters Material Provisions of the Amendment

The title is affirmatively misleading because it represents that the amendment does only two things: eliminates the required local school tax, and replaces it with equivalent state revenues. In fact, the amendment makes three other major changes, two of them having no connection at all to school funding. This Court has held that the title and summary must be read together in a number of cases in which the titles were too general to provide some necessary details, but has never held that a title that misrepresents the contents of an amendment, and can thereby mislead a voter into reading no further, can be cured by the summary.

Even if the title and summary are read, the resulting ambiguity is sufficient to require removal of the measure from the ballot. The 50% reduction in maximum annual increase in ad valorem tax for all non-school purposes is a dramatic change in the constitution. Read within the context of the title and the summary, in which all other references to taxation and funding relate to schools, the reference in the summary to a limitation on annual ad valorem increases can mislead a voter into thinking that the reference is only to ad valorem taxes for school funding or leave a voter uncertain as to what the reference means. Such ambiguities have consistently been held by this Court to require removal from the ballot.

ARGUMENT

This Court has by now firmly established as a bedrock principle of law that the ballot title and summary for a proposed amendment to the Florida Constitution must meet a two-part criteria. The title and summary: (1) must, in clear and unambiguous language, inform the voter of the chief purpose of the proposed amendment; and (2) must not be misleading. Florida Marriage Protection Amendment, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 2006); Independent Nonpartisan Comm'n, 926 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2006). These requirements are not aspirational. They are absolute, and the failure of a proposition to comply with them will, as illustrated by the cases discussed below, invariably necessitate removal from the ballot. The requirements are rooted in the Florida Constitution and apply "across-the-board to all constitutional amendments" regardless of their source. Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 14 (Fla. 2000) (applying criteria to proposed amendment passed by the Florida Legislature).

As noted by the appellees, this Court has recognized that it "must act with extreme care, caution, and restraint before we remove a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people," and that it will do so only when "the laws governing the process have been clearly and conclusively violated." *Florida Marriage Protection Amendment*, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1233

(Fla. 2006). However, the court has also emphasized the importance of giving equal weight to ensuring that the ballot title and summary meet constitutional requirements. *Laws Related to Discrimination*, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1021 (Fla. 1994) ("Although we are wary of interfering with the public's right to vote on an initiative proposal [citation omitted], we are equally cautious of approving the validity of a ballot summary that is not clearly understandable"). The trial court found that the ballot title and summary for The Amendment failed to accurately state the chief purpose of the amendment and were misleading. The court was correct. The judgment below should be affirmed.

Ι

The ballot title and summary are misleading because they fail to inform the voter that the "hold harmless" provision only applies for one year.

For 120 years, the primary source of funding for Florida's elementary and secondary schools has been local ad valorem taxes. Since 1973, that funding has been implemented through the Florida Education Funding Program, which included a required local tax effort. The required local effort has increased steadily year after year, reaching \$7.9 billion in the 2007-08 fiscal year. [Appellee's Appendix, Exh. F]

¹ See Florida Constitution (1868), Art. VIII, § 5, 8; Florida Constitution (1885), Art. XII, § 6, 8; Florida Constitution (1968), Art. VII, § 9; Fla. Stat., Ch. 1011 and predecessor chapters.

The Amendment would radically change school funding by eliminating the required local effort, prohibiting the Legislature from replacing it with a successor program, and cutting in half the millage available for local governments to fund most school purposes. [R. 145-6; A. 7-8] The changes become effective automatically in 2010 and are permanent.

The Amendment includes a "hold harmless" provision that directs the Legislature to appropriate funds *for one year*, the 2010-2011 fiscal year, according to a formula designed to provide for revenue to fund education equivalent to that provided in prior years:

In implementing this section, the amount appropriated and set in the General Appropriations Act in the 2010-2011 fiscal year shall not be less than the amount appropriated and set in the 2008-2009 fiscal year for the funding of public schools under the Florida Education Finance Program, as increased by the average historical growth for such amounts during state fiscal years 2006-2007 and 2007-2008, which appropriated and set amount shall be referred to as the "education hold harmless amount."

[R. 146; A. 8] (emphasis added). The title and summary inform the voters that the amendment replaces the required local effort "with an equivalent hold harmless amount for schools," but fails to indicate that the hold harmless provision is in force *for only one year*:

ELIMINATING STATE REQUIRED SCHOOL PROPERTY TAX AND **REPLACING WITH**

REVENUES TO **EQUIVALENT** STATE **FUND** EDUCATION. Replacing state required school property taxes with state revenues generating an equivalent hold harmless amount for schools through one or more of the following options: repealing sales tax exemptions not specifically excluded; increasing sales tax rate up to one percentage point; spending reductions; other revenue options created by the legislature. Limiting subject matter of laws granting future exemptions. Limiting annual increases in assessment of non-homestead real property. Lowering property tax millage rate for schools.

The title and summary give no hint of this significant limitation on the "hold harmless" provision. To the contrary, the language of the title and summary convey the distinct impression that the balance of lost revenue and replacement revenue are coterminous.

The voter "must be able to comprehend the sweep of each proposal from a fair notification in the proposition itself that is neither less nor more extensive than it appears to be." *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 155 (Fla. 1982). This Court has not hesitated to strike from the ballot propositions that omitted material facts from the title and summary. See *Term Limits Pledge*, 718 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1998); *Fish and Wildlife Comm'n*, 705 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1998); *Tax Limitation*, 644 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1994); *Limited Political Terms*, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991). The one-year limitation

on the implementation of the "hold harmless amount" is a material fact of which the voter must be given notice.

Even if the hold harmless provision could somehow be interpreted to have continuing application, the title and summary would fail to give the voter fair notice of the sweep of Amendment 5. The title and summary represent to the voter that Amendment 5 creates a balanced trade-off: in return for loss of a long-term, reliable source of consistently increasing funding, Amendment 5 guarantees by a hold harmless provision another source of an "equivalent" amount of funding. In reality, the trade-off is not at all balanced. The cut-off of local funding is constitutionally self-executing and occurs automatically in 2010. The replacement revenue, on the other hand, is contingent upon the Legislature agreeing to levy new taxes or otherwise finding and appropriating replacement revenue.

It is not sufficient for the appellees to simply say that it should be presumed that the Legislature will comply with the constitution. The issue is not whether the Legislature can be trusted to follow a constitutional directive, but whether the voters are to be given fair notice of what they are voting on. There is a real distinction between a self-executing constitutional provision and one contingent upon legislative action. In order to provide "equivalent state funds," the Legislature must identify new state sources

from which to raise at least \$7.9 billion dollars a year. It is possible for every member of the Legislature to make a good faith effort to fulfill his or her oath to uphold the constitution and still fail to achieve the consensus necessary to replace the lost revenue.

The Amendment does not create an equal trade-off. The cutoff will happen. The replacement revenue might or might not happen. It is for the voters, not the Commission, to decide whether to take the risk. The voters can take that risk if they choose to, but they cannot be misled by the ballot title and summary as to the nature of that risk. "Just as it is clearly misleading to reveal only one half of a constitutional 'tradeoff' in the ballot summary, *Askew*, 421 So. 2d at 157 (Ehrlich, J., concurring), so it is fatally misleading to imply a constitutional trade-off where none is, in fact, contemplated." *Evans v. Firestone*, 457 So. 2d at 1356.

The appellees argue that Amendment 5 simply forces the Legislature to shift school funding from the local to the state level and does not attempt to control the Legislature's discretion to set the funding level. The appellees concede, however, that Amendment 5 would, indeed, control the funding level for the 2010-11 fiscal year by mandating that the Legislature appropriate a "hold harmless amount" in that year. The hold harmless amount is established by a constitutionally set formula designed to maintain

a level of funding not only equivalent in amount to the previous year, but increased in an amount equivalent to historical increases. What the appellees do not acknowledge is that, while the title and summary assure the voter that the revenue lost by the elimination of historic sources of school funding will be replaced by a hold harmless provision, they neglect to mention that this provision is limited to one year. The appellees dismiss this glaring omission by stating that, "Nothing in the ballot title or summary speaks to a future revenue guaranty." It is true that the language does not explicitly refer to such a guaranty, but it certainly gives a voter good reason to assume that the hold harmless provision will continue to ensure replacement of the lost revenue. The title and summary represent to the voter that the hold harmless provision will produce "equivalent" revenues to replace a tax that Amendment 5 permanently eliminates and that had generated steadily increasing revenue levels for at least the previous eight years.

The appellees also urge the Court to excuse the failure of the ballot summary to mention the one-year applicability of the hold harmless provision because of the seventy-five word limit on the summary. It would be impossible, the appellees state, for the summary to inform the voters of every detail of Amendment 5. The one-year limitation is not just any detail and the summary could easily have been worded to include reference to the

one-year limitation. The Court has made clear that its recognition of the practical limitations arising from the 75-word limit do not excuse failure to give adequate notice:

We have never required that the summary explain the complete details of a proposal at great and undue length, nor do we do so now. However, the word limit does not give drafters of proposed amendments leave to ignore the importance of the ballot summary and to provide an abbreviated, ambiguous statement in the hope that this Court's reluctance to remove issues from the ballot will prevent us from insisting on clarity and meaningful information.

Bar Government from Treating People Differently, 778 So. 2d 888, 899 (Fla. 2001) quoting Smith v. American Airlines, 606 So. 2d 618, 621 (Fla. 1992).

II

The title and summary are inadequate because they do not clearly and unambiguously inform the voter of two material changes that would be effected by the amendment.

The Amendment would make five separate significant changes in the constitution. The title only mentions two of them:

ELIMINATING REQUIRED SCHOOL PROPERTY TAX AND REPLACING WITH EQUIVALENT STATE REVENUES TO FUND EDUCATION

It fails to mention that Amendment 5 would also:

 Require that laws creating sales tax exemptions contain a single subject of a single exemption and legislative findings that the exemption advances or serves one of several listed public purposes.

- Reduce the maximum millage that local government can levy for school purposes from 10 mills to 5 mills.
- Reduce the annual maximum increase in real property assessments by local government for other than school purposes from 10% to 5%.

The appellees note that these changes are mentioned in the summary and that this Court has held that the title and summary must be read together to determine whether the voter is given adequate notice. That is correct, but the title in this case is a different animal than this Court has heretofore addressed. Previous cases have involved titles that lacked necessary specifics provided by the summary, but that were broad enough to encompass all major changes effected by the amendment. That is what distinguishes the title in the case at bar.

Instead of a general title broad enough to cover all substantial changes included in the measure, the Commission chose to use a restrictive title that represents to the voter that the measure does only two things, both related to school funding. This title is not simply insufficiently detailed, it is affirmatively misleading. As the lower court noted, a voter reading the title can easily be misled into voting for the measure or skipping it altogether in reliance upon the title's erroneous representation that Amendment 5 deals with only the required school tax.

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